IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

GERALD LAYDEN
BRI AN FRAI PONT, and
LESLI E BROWN,

Plaintiffs, : ClVIL ACTI ON
v. : NO. 01- 2196
HSL BUI LDERS, I|NC. .
TIMOTHY R, McCARTHY, JR. .
JOHN KI STLER
CARL ALEXANDER I11 and
JENNI FER CHECK,

Def endant s.

VEMORANDUM

BUCKWALTER, J. June 26, 2002

Plaintiffs bring this action pursuant to the Fair Labor
Standards Act (“FLSA’), 29 U . S.C. § 201 et seq. and the
Pennsyl vani a Wage and Hour Act alleging that Defendants failed to
pay themthe required rate of pay for overtinme hours worked
during their enploynment with HSL Builders, Inc. (“HSL”).
Presently before the Court is Plaintiffs’ Mtion for Summary
Judgment and Defendants’ Cross-Mtion for Summary Judgnent. For
t he reasons stated below, Plaintiffs’ notion is GRANTED and

Def endants notion i s DEN ED



BACKGROUND

Ceral d Layden (“Layden”), Brian Fraipont (“Fraipont”)
and Leslie Brown (“Brown”) (referred to herein collectively as
“Plaintiffs”) are former enpl oyees of HSL. HSL provides
constructi on managenent services for clients doing residential or
comercial construction projects. Layden and Frai pont worked as
punch-out nechanics for HSL during 1998 and 1999. See Conpl ai nt
at 7Y 18, 19. Brown worked as a carpenter for HSL during 1999
and 2000. See Conplaint at § 20. Plaintiffs worked overtine
during their enploynent wwth HSL on a regular basis. Layden was
paid a rate of $22.00 per hour for every hour worked, whether
over or under 40 hours a week. Layden contends that he worked a
total of 802 hours of tinme in excess of 40 hours per week during
his enpl oynent at HSL. Fraipont and Brown were paid a rate of
$19. 00 per hour for hours worked in a given week up to 40, and
ti me-and-a-half ($28.50) for hours worked over 40 and up to 56
hours in a given week. Any hours worked over 56 in a given week
wer e conpensated by receiving “banked” hours at the rate of one
hour banked for each hour worked. These banked hours were
available only for paid tine off. Fraipont contends that he
worked a total of 85 hours in excess of the 56 hours per week for
whi ch he was properly conpensated. Brown contends that she
wor ked a total of 53 hours in excess of the 56 hours per week for

whi ch she was properly conpensat ed.



. STANDARD

A notion for sunmary judgnent shall be granted if the
Court determnes “that there is no genuine issue as to any
material fact and that the noving party is entitled to judgnent
as a matter of law” Fed. R Cv. P. 56(c). In addition,
“[1]nferences to be drawn fromthe underlying facts contained in
the evidential sources . . . nust be viewed in the |ight nost
favorable to the party opposing the notion. The non-novant’s
al l egations nust be taken as true and, when these assertions
conflict wwth those of the novant, the former nust receive the

benefit of the doubt.” Goodman v. Mead Johnson & Co., 534 F. 2d

566, 573 (3d Cr. 1976). However, if the nonnovant’s evidence is
nmerely colorable, or is not significantly probative, or just
rai ses sone netaphysical doubt as to the material facts, summary

judgnent may be granted. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith

Radio Corp., 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S. C. 1348, 1355, 89 L. Ed.

2d 538 (1986), Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U S. 242,

249-50, 106 S. . 2505, 2511, 91 L. Ed. 2d 202 (1986).

L. DI SCUSSI ON
The FLSA requires enployers to pay its enpl oyees
prem um pay for hours worked in excess of 40 in a given week.

See 29 U.S.C. § 207(a). Section 207 provides in pertinent part:



Maxi mum hour s

[N]o enpl oyer shall enploy any of his enpl oyees

who in any workweek is engaged in commerce or in

t he production of goods for comrerce, or is

enpl oyed in an enterprise engaged in comerce or

in the production of goods for commerce, for a

wor kweek | onger than forty hours unl ess such

enpl oyee receives conpensation for his enpl oynent

in excess of the hours specified at a rate of not

| ess than one and one-half tinmes the regular rate

at which he is enpl oyed.

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants failed to pay
overtime conpensation as required by the FLSA and seek back wage
conpensation, |iquidated danages, attorneys’ fees and costs.

Def endants contend that they are not subject to the FLSA and thus
not required to conpensate Plaintiffs with prem um pay for
overtime hours. Alternatively, Defendants assert that they are
excused fromthe overtine pay requirenments because Plaintiffs are
exenpt enpl oyees under the FLSA

A. Applicability of the FLSA

HSL noves for summary judgnent asserting that it is not
required to pay Plaintiffs prem um pay for overtine because it is
not subject to the FLSA and its overtinme requirenents. The
m ni mum wage and overtinme requirenents apply to enpl oyees of an
"enterprise engaged in commerce.” 29 U S.C. 88§ 206, 207. “To be
consi dered an enterprise, a business nust satisfy three el enents.
It nust 1) be engaged in related activities, 2) under unified

operation or common control, and 3) have a common busi ness

purpose.” Reich v. Gateway Press, Inc., 13 F.3d 685, 694 (3d
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Cir. 1994) (citing 29 U.S.C. 8 203(r)(1)Y). To be considered an
“enterprise engaged in conmerce” requires two additional
conditions be satisfied. First, the enterprise nust have

“enpl oyees engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for
commerce, or that has enpl oyees handling, selling or otherw se
wor ki ng on goods or nmaterials that have been noved in or produced
for comerce by any person[.]” 29 U S.C 8 203(s)(1)(A(i).
Second, the enterprises’ annual gross volune sal es nust be

$500, 000 or greater. 29 U S.C. 8 203(s)(D (A (ii).

HSL contends that (1) it is not an enterprise; (2) it
is not engaged in comrerce; and (3) its gross receipts did not
exceed $500, 000 during the period of tine pertinent to this
litigation.

1. Enterprise Status

The business activities of HSL appear to be rel ated,
performed through unified operation and common control, and for a
common busi ness purpose. See Reich, 13 F.3d at 694. HSL's
busi ness activities are related in that it provides all types of
constructi on managenent services to its clients. HSL's operation

isunified in that it is a corporation at a single |ocation with

1. Section 203(r) defines “enterprise” in pertinent part as
“the related activities perfornmed (either through unified
operation or common control) by any person or persons for a comon
busi ness purpose, and includes all such activities whether
performed in one or nore establishnments or by one or nore
corporate or other organizational units including departments of
an establishment operated through | easing arrangenents, but shal
not include the related activities performed for such enterprise
by an i ndependent contractor.”



Tim MCarthy as the sole owner, sharehol der and President in
charge of running the conpany. Finally, HSL's conmon busi ness
purpose is to negotiate construction or maintenance contracts and
performthe associated work required thereunder. Therefore, HSL
must be considered an enterprise within the neani ng of section
3(r) of the Fair Labor Standards Act. See 29 U S.C. § 203(r).

2. Engaged i n Comrerce

Next, HSL states that at the tinme of Plaintiffs’
enpl oynent it “subbed out” 100% of the construction activities
and that its job was only to manage the conpl etion of the
construction. Therefore, HSL argues, because it did not have any
enpl oyees on site who were doing the actual construction duties,
it did not produce any goods and cannot be considered an entity
“engaged in comerce.”

It is enough to bring an entity under the purview of
the FLSA when that entity has bought goods that have been noved
ininterstate conmmerce and these goods have been used in the
course of the entity s enployees’ enploynent. See, e.d.,

Marshall v. Brunner, 668 F.2d 748, 751-52 (3d G r. 1982)

(enpl oyer who used trucks, truck bodies, tires, batteries,
accessories, sixty-gallon containers, shovels, broons, oils and
gas that had been manufactured out of state and had noved in
interstate commerce was subject to the FLSA). Tinothy MCart hy,

in his deposition testinmony, explains that in addition to



managi ng residential and commercial construction projects, HSL
al so, fromtinme to tine, provides HVAC service work, punch-out
wor k, and clean-up services. It is a reasonable inference that
t hese manual type services, as well as the provision of
constructi on managenent services, would require HSL to purchase
goods that have been noved in interstate commerce, and used these
goods in the course of its business. |In support of this
inference, Plaintiffs’ exhibits include copies of expense checks
whi ch Layden received as rei nbursenent for purchases of tools and
the like. In addition, an expense report details purchases nmade
at Buil ders Square, Sears and Hone Depot, including keys, paint,
nails, dryer cord, phone wires, hooks, chains and outl et boxes.
Thus, it appears fromthe record that HSL purchased goods that
have been noved in interstate comerce, and that HSL used these
goods in the course of its business. Therefore, the Court
concl udes that Defendants engaged in commerce.

3. Annual G oss Vol une of Sales of at Least $500, 000

The second of the statutory conditions for finding that
an enterprise engaged in commerce requires the enterprise to have
annual gross volume of sales not |ess than $500,000. See 29
US C 8203 (s)(1)(A(ii). HSL asserts that its gross receipts
did not exceed $500,000. |In support of its assertion, HSL
attaches its 1998 and 1999 tax returns to their notion, which

show HSL’s gross receipts to be $375,255 in 1998 and $205, 244 in



1999. Plaintiffs contest HSL's tax returns through the affidavit
of Edward Waddi ngton, Certified Public Accountant. M.

Waddi ngton states that, in his professional opinion, HSL's tax
returns were not properly conpleted and notes deficiencies within
t he docunents which suggest that there may be financial activity
of HSL which was not reported accurately in the tax returns.

Thus, an issue of fact exists with respect to HSL’'s annual gross
vol une of sales.

In sum because it cannot be determ ned whet her HSL had
annual gross volunme of sales of at |east $500,000, issues of fact
exist wth respect to whether HSL is subject to the FLSA
Therefore, Defendants cross-notion for sunmary judgnment on this
poi nt must be denied. For purposes of addressing the parties
remai ni ng sunmary judgnent argunents, the Court will assune that
HSL is subject to the FLSA. In the event that it is determ ned
at trial that Defendants are subject to the FLSA and its overtine
requi renents, the resolution of the issues discussed bel ow
control

B. Plaintiffs’ Exenpt Status

The FLSA exenpts fromits overtine requirenents “any
enpl oyee enployed in a bona fide executive, adm nistrative, or
prof essional capacity[.]” 29 U S.C. § 213(a)(1). Thus, if
Plaintiffs are exenpt enployees, HSL would not be required to pay

t hem premi um pay for overtinme. |In order for an enpl oyer to be



exenpt fromthe FLSA's overtine requirenments under either the
executive, admnistrative or professional exenption, the enployee
must be paid on a salary basis. See 29 CF. R 88 541.117,
541. 214, 541.311. Plaintiffs nove for summary judgnent as to
their non-exenpt status asserting that they were not paid on a
sal ary basis and thus, none of the exenptions which could be
cl ai mred by Defendant woul d be applicable.

The test for whether an enployee is paid on “a salary
basis” is set out at 29 CF. R § 541.118(a):

An enpl oyee will be considered to be paid “on a

salary basis” within the neaning of the

regul ations if under his enploynent agreenent he

regularly receives each pay period on a weekly, or

| ess frequent basis, a predeterm ned anount

constituting all or part of his conpensation,

whi ch anmount is not subject to reduction because

of variations in the quality or quantity of the

wor k performed. Subject to the exceptions

provi ded bel ow, the enployee nust receive his ful

salary for any week in which he perforns any work

wi t hout regard to the nunber of days or hours

wor ked.

Plaintiffs rely on the hourly pay structure under which
they were conpensated as evidence that they were not paid on a
salary basis. Specifically, Plaintiffs Fraipont and Brown were
pai d $19. 00 per hour for hours worked in a given week up to 40,
and tinme-and-a-half for hours worked over 40 and up to 56 hours
in a given week. Any hours worked over 56 in a given week were

conpensat ed by receiving “banked” hours at the rate of one hour

banked for each hour worked. These banked hours were avail abl e



only for paid tine off. Plaintiff Layden was paid $22. 00 per
hour for every hour he worked, whether it was over or under 40 in
a given week. These facts are supported by the payroll records
attached as exhibits to Plaintiffs’ notion. Thus, Plaintiffs
argue that because they were all conpensated at an hourly rate
and rarely received the sane anount from week to week, due to the
fluctuation in the anount of hours worked, it cannot be said that
they were paid a “predeterm ned anount” each week as required
under the salary basis test of 29 CF. R § 541.118(a).

Def endants admt that Plaintiffs were paid on an hourly
basis. However, Defendants assert that throughout the workday,
Plaintiffs exercised their own judgnent with respect to what job
tasks were perforned and for how |l ong, as opposed to HSL
di ctati ng how each hour of the work day should be allocated for
particul ar tasks. Defendants argue that this is the earmark of a
sal ari ed enpl oyee.

Both parties rely on Brock v. Claridge Hotel & Casino,

846 F.2d 180 (3d Cr. 1988) to support their respective
positions. In Brock the United States Court of Appeals for the
Third Grcuit (the “Third Crcuit”) analyzed a “weekly sal ary
guarantee” of enployees at an Atlantic Gty casino. This
guarantee, in the formof a contract, assured certain casino
enpl oyees a weekly salary of $250 for any week in which the

enpl oyee perfornmed work. The casi no enpl oyees achi eved the $250
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guar ant ee when the amount of hours worked, nultiplied by the
enpl oyee’s hourly rate, reached $250. Wages over the $250

m ni mum were paid by the hour, according to the nunber of hours
t he enpl oyee had worked. The guarantee at issue was net
general |y because the casino enpl oyees who brought suit were
wel |l -paid. The Third Grcuit held that the casino enpl oyees who
were paid by the hour but received a $250 m ni mrum weekly paynent
were not entitled to exenption from FLSA's overtine provision.
In so holding, the Third G rcuit enphasized that any form of
hourly conpensation is inconsistent wwth a salary status.

The Third Crcuit also noted that a sal aried enpl oyee
is one who “decides for hinmself how much a particular task is
worth, measured in the nunber of hours he devotes to it.” Brock,
846 F.2d at 184. In contrast, as to hourly enployees, “it is the
enpl oyer who decides the worth of a particular task, when he
determ nes the anount to pay the enployee performng it.” |1d.

However, Brock does not convert the salary basis test
into a single prong, whereby any enpl oyee that has the | atitude
of deciding for hinself the nunber of hours to devote to a
particular task will be considered conpensated on a sal ary basi s.
Def endants transpose Brock’s teachings. Brock does not instruct,
as Defendants attenpt to argue, that such latitude is an
i ndi cation of salary status. Rather, Brock instructs that salary

is an indication of such |atitude. No matter how much di scretion
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Plaintiffs were given to acconplish their varied job
responsi bilities, Defendants cannot escape the fact that they
conpensated Plaintiffs hourly. Thus, Plaintiffs were not paid on
a salary basis and a finding of exenpt status is not appropriate.
C. Liquidated Damages
Plaintiffs also nove for sunmary judgnment with respect
to their request for |iquidated damages. The FLSA provi des that

“[a] n enpl oyer who violates the [overtine] provisions of

section 207 . . . shall be liable to the enpl oyee or enpl oyees
affected in the anount of . . . their unpaid overtine
conpensation, . . . and in an additional equal anmount as
liquidated damages . . . .” 29 U S. C § 216(b). Thus, “[w hen

an enpl oyer violates the overtine wage provision of [the FLSA],
section 216(b) provides for paynent of both unpaid wages and an
equi val ent anount of mandatory |iqui dated damages.” Martin v.

Cooper Elec. Supply Co., 940 F.2d 896, 907 (3d Cr. 1991)

(emphasis in the original) “The |iquidated danmages provision
anounts to a Congressional recognition that failure to pay the
statutory mninum and overti ne wages nay be so detrinental to the
mai nt enance of the mninmum standard of |iving ‘necessary for
health, efficiency and general well-being of workers’ that double
paynent mnust be nade to conpensate enpl oyees for | osses they

m ght suffer by not receiving their |awful pay when it was due.”
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Brooks v. Village of R dgefield Park, 185 F.3d 130, 137 (3d Gr.
1999) (quoting Section 2(a) 52 Stat. 1060.)

Congress subsequently mtigated the harshness of the
I i qui dat ed damage provision of Section 216(b) with the enactnent
of Section 260 of the Portal-to-Portal Act. 1d. This section
permts the district court in its sound discretion to withhold or
reduce the amount of |iquidated damages “if the enpl oyer shows .

that the act or omssion giving rise to such action was in

good faith and that he had reasonabl e grounds for believing that
his act or om ssion was not a violation of the [FLSA].” 29
US C 8 260. The Third G rcuit has explained the good faith and
reasonabl eness requirenents as foll ows:

The good faith requirenment is a subjective one

that “requires that the enployer have an honest
intention to ascertain and follow the dictates of

the Act.” . . . The reasonabl eness requirenent
i nposes an obj ective standard by which to judge
the enpl oyer's conduct . . . Ignorance alone wll

not exonerate the enployer under the objective
reasonabl eness test

Martin, 940 F.2d at 907-08 (quoting Wllians v. Tri-County

Gowers, Inc., 747 F.2d 121, 129 (3d Cr. 1984)) (enphasis in

original). The “defendant enpl oyer bears the ‘plain and
substantial burden of proving he is entitled to discretionary
relief fromthe FLSA's mandatory |iqui dated damages provision.”
Martin, 940 F.2d at 907. “To carry his burden, a defendant

enpl oyer must show that he took affirmative steps to ascertain
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the Act’s requirenents, but nonetheless, violated its
provisions.” Mrtin, 940 F.2d at 908.

HSL argues that it acted in good faith because it
believed Plaintiffs to be exenpt enpl oyees, not entitled to
overtinme conpensation. However, it appears that HSL did not do
any anal ysis or conduct any inquiry to determ ne whet her
Plaintiffs qualified for an exenption. Tinothy McCarthy admts
that he was responsi ble for making sure HSL had personnel
policies that net all applicable aws and that he supervised
these policies sufficiently such that they net the applicable
| egal requirenents. Yet, M. MCarthy did not have know edge of,
or involvenent in, Plaintiffs conpensation structure. |If M.
McCarthy had affirmatively attenpted to ascertain the FLSA s
requi renents, he would have been on notice that Plaintiffs’
hourly pay structure entitled themto overtine at a rate of tine
and a half for any and all hours worked over 40 in a given week.
M. MCarthy’'s failure to inquire into the FLSA's overtine pay
requi renents and its application to HSL enpl oyees paid on an
hourly basis precludes a determ nation that Defendants subjective

good faith was reasonabl e.

| V. CONCLUSI ON
Def endants’ Motion for Summary Judgnent as to the
applicability of the FLSA to HSL is denied. Based upon the

record before the Court, an issue of fact exists with respect to
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whet her HSL’s annual gross volune sales is at |east $500, 000.
Plaintiffs’ Mtion for Summary Judgnent is granted. |If it is
determned at trial that HSL is subject to the FLSA and its
overtinme requirenents, Defendants will be required to pay
Plaintiffs back wages because Plaintiffs are non-exenpt enpl oyees
under the FLSA. Defendants will also be required to pay
Plaintiffs |iquidated danages pursuant to 29 U S.C. 8§ 216(b).

An appropriate Order follows.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

GERALD LAYDEN,
BRI AN FRAI PONT, and
LESLI E BROMN,
Plaintiffs, : ClVIL ACTI ON
v. : NO. 01- 2196
HSL BUI LDERS, | NC. .
TINOTHY R McCARTHY, JR.,
JOHN Kl STLER,
CARL ALEXANDER 111 and
JENNI FER CHECK.

Def endant s.

ORDER

AND NOW this 26'" day of June, 2002, upon
consideration of Plaintiffs’ Mtion for Summary Judgnment (Docket
No. 10), Defendants’ response in opposition thereto (Docket No.
14), along with other matters of record, it is hereby ORDERED
that Plaintiffs’ Mtion is GRANTED.

Upon consi deration of Defendants Cross-Mtion for
Summary Judgnent (Docket No. 14) and Plaintiffs response in
opposition thereto (Docket No. 15), it is hereby ORDERED that
Def endants cross-notion i s DEN ED

TRIAL on the remaining issues is set for Tuesday,

Septenber 17, 2002 at 9:30 a.m in Courtroom 14A.

BY THE COURT:

RONALD L. BUCKWALTER, J.



